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Independent auditor’s report 
 

Translation of the original Russian version 
 
 
To the Shareholders of 
Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Joint Stock Company “Federal 
Passenger Company” and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements in the Russian Federation, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.
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Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to this matter. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address this matter 
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets 

As described in detail in Note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements, the Group represents one 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”). The Group bases its 
CGU impairment calculation on significant 
assumptions and estimations. This audit matter was 
a key one to the audit procedures due to the 
significance of the Group’s carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment and other non-
financial assets, and high sensitivity of CGU’s fair 
value less cost to sell to the various assumptions 
and estimations. Such assumptions include the 
projected growth of tariffs on passenger 
transportation, capital investments, operating 
expenses and discount rate. 

In our audit procedures we performed analysis of 
assumptions and estimations, used in determination 
of CGU’s fair value less cost to sell. 

We, including assistance of our experts, also tested 
calculation of CGU’s fair value less cost to sell. 
Furthermore, we performed analysis on 
management’s sensitivity analysis on key 
assumptions and estimations used in the 
impairment calculation. We also reviewed the 
related disclosures to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
Other information included in Annual Report 
 
Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible 
for the other information. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date 
of this auditor’s report.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 
  



 
 
 

Translation of the original Russian version 
 

 

5 

Responsibilities of management and Board of Directors for the consolidated financial 
statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  
 
From the matters communicated with Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is  
I.V. MOSKALENKO. 
 
 
I.V. MOSKALENKO 
Partner 
Ernst & Young LLC 
 
26 March 2021 
 
 
Details of the audited entity 
 
Name: Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
Record made in the State Register of Legal Entities on 3 December 2009, State Registration Number 1097746772738.  
Address: Russia, 107078, Moscow, Mashy Porivaevoy st., bld. 34. 
 
Details of the auditor 
 
Name: Ernst & Young LLC 
Record made in the State Register of Legal Entities on 5 December 2002, State Registration Number 1027739707203. 
Address: Russia 115035, Moscow, Sadovnicheskaya naberezhnaya, 77, building 1. 
Ernst & Young LLC is a member of Self-regulatory organization of auditors Association “Sodruzhestvo”. 
Ernst & Young LLC is included in the control copy of the register of auditors and audit organizations, main registration 
number 12006020327. 
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1. Description of Business and Russian Environment 
 
Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” (“FPC” or “the Company”) was established on 
3 December 2009 in connection with implementation of the Program of Railway Transportation 
Industry Restructuring (“the Program”) for the organization of effective passenger transportation in 
the long-haul passenger transportation segment. The Company is 100% less 1 share owned by the 
OJSC “Russian Railways” (OJSC “RZD” or “the Parent”). OJSC “Russian Railways” is 
100% owned by the Russian Federation, which is the Company’s ultimate controlling party.  
 
The legal address of FPC is Mashi Porivaevoy Street, 34, 107078, Moscow, Russian Federation. 
 
These consolidated financial statements of FPC and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 were authorized for issue by the management of FPC on 25 March 2021. 
 
The Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

Name of the subsidiary  

The principal 
place of 
business 

Nature of  
business 

Group’s effective equity interest 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
“NapitkiTransService” LLC  Russia Beverages sale 51% 51% 
“Travel-Tur” LLC Russia Tourism 50.01% 50.01% 
“Transmobilnost” JSC Russia Baggage transportation 100% 100% 
 
Corporate Information  
 
Subsidiaries of the Company are registered in the Russian Federation. 
 
Factors Affecting Financial Position of the Group 
 
Operating environment  
 
The Russian Federation continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and 
regulatory frameworks as required by a market economy that are intended to reduce the negative 
impact on the Russian economy of sanctions imposed on it by several countries.  
 
Beginning in the first quarter 2020, the expansion of COVID-19 infectious disease has been 
evolving rapidly. Many countries, including the Russian Federation, have imposed restrictions 
quarantine measures that have resulted in a significant decline in business activity of market 
participants. Both the expansion of infectious disease and measures taken to minimize its 
consequences affect the activities of companies in various industries. In 2020, the Group 
experienced reduction in passenger transportation density and related decrease in variable operating 
expenditure. Passenger turnover decrease comprised more than 48% compared to 2019 (Note 23). 
The subsequent results of the Group largely depend on the further development of the situation with 
the expansion of infectious disease and pace of economic recovery in the Russian Federation. 
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1. Description of Business and Russian Environment (continued) 
 
Factors Affecting Financial Position of the Group (continued) 
 
Management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability and the stability 
of the Group’s business in the current circumstances. Substantial support to the Group in current 
circumstances is provided by the Government of the Russian Federation. 
 
Pricing policy 
 
The Government of Russian Federation sets tariffs for the Company’s transportation services based 
on anticipated macroeconomic indicators and the Company’s projected funding requirements 
targeted to cover operating expenditures, capital expenditures and repayment of borrowings. 
The Federal Antimonopoly Service (FAS) sets the Company’s tariffs for certain classes of 
passenger transportation (third- and fourth-class of long-haul passenger transportation). 
 
The Company is required to price its regulated third- and fourth-class long-haul passenger 
transportation services on the basis of a detailed price lists set out in Federal Tariff Regulator order 
#156-t/1 dated 27 July 2010. Prices set out in Tariff 156-t/1 are subject to annual, and occasionally 
supplemental, indexation.  
 
As discussed above, the Government of Russian Federation regulates tariffs for third- and 
fourth-class long-haul passenger transportation for the Company, while deluxe-, first- and 
second-class long-haul passenger transportation is unregulated and subject to market pricing. 
International tariffs for passenger transportation are set according to inter-governmental and 
interagency agreements, and vary according to the countries involved. 
 
Following FAS order #845/20 dated 16 September 2020 tariffs for regulated long-haul passenger 
transportation segment of Company were increased by 3.7% beginning 1-st January 2021.  
 
It is currently uncertain whether any further changes will be introduced in the tariff setting policy. 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from these 
uncertain effects. Such adjustments, if any, will be reported in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements in the period when they become known and estimable. 
 
Subsidies  
 
The Group continued to receive subsidies from federal government to compensate the effects of 
passenger transportation tariffs regulation. These subsidies are shown as a separate line item in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss (Notes 27, 34). 
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1. Description of Business and Russian Environment (continued) 
 
Foreign Exchange 
 
The following table presents official exchange rates of the Russian ruble to foreign currencies set by 
the Central bank of Russian Federation as at 25 March 2021, 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2019. 
 

 
25 March  

2021 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
US dollar (USD) 76.15 73.88 61.91 
Euro (EUR) 90.05 90.68 69.34 
Swiss franc (CHF) 81.35 83.51 63.60 
 
Liquidity 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 
Rbls 45,224 million (31 December 2019: Current assets exceeded current liabilities by 
Rbls 8,673 million) which is to a large extent explained by decrease of the amount of short-term 
loans receivable from the Parent and the nature of Group’s current liabilities mainly represented by 
payables for purchase, modernization and maintenance of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 
as a part of Company’s investment program, as well as by transportation contract liabilities 
(advances received) due to the fact that the Company’s sales of transportation services are made 
predominantly on prepayment basis. The Company does not expect any changes in the general 
business terms of its contracts with customers and suppliers. 
 
The Company determines the source of financing of an appropriate terms and duration for all the 
projects included in the Company’s investment program in accordance with the approved financial 
plan.  
 
The Group is investing in expansion, modernization and maintenance of its PP&E. The Group 
finances its investment activities through cash generated from operations, contributions from the 
Parent to the share capital and short-term and long-term borrowings. 
 
Management uses the following instruments in order to manage the Group’s liquidity: 

• Continuous monitoring and management of loan portfolio structure aimed at maintaining its 
long-term nature and ensuring even flows of borrowings repayment in future periods; 

• Maintaining diversified sources of external borrowings, including borrowings from 
commercial banks and issuance of debt securities (Note 14); 

• Entering into long-term and medium-term credit agreements with local banks to ensure 
sufficiency of available financial resources; 

• Using short-term bridge facilities to ensure smooth cash flows for financing investments and 
operations; 

• Obtaining approval of subsidies from federal government to compensate the effects of 
passenger transportation tariffs regulation (Note 27).   
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1. Description of Business and Russian Environment (continued) 
 
Liquidity 
 
Management believes that through twelve months after the date of authorization of these 
consolidated financial statements, there will be sufficient funding from (a) existing cash balances, 
(b) cash generated from operations in the next reporting period, (c) available debt financing within 
credit limits under credit facility agreements and (d) government support. As of 31 December 2020 
the unutilized amount under credit line agreements was Rbls 70,434 million. 
 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Preparation of Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”). The Russian ruble is used as functional currency of all entities of the Group as it is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which these entities operate. These consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Russian rubles (“Rbls”) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest million, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are required to maintain their accounting records and prepare 
their statutory accounting reports in Russian rubles and in accordance with the Regulations on 
Accounting and Reporting in the Russian Federation. These consolidated financial statements are 
based upon the statutory accounting records, as adjusted and reclassified in order to comply with 
IFRS. The principle adjustments relate to revenues recognition, valuation of property, plant and 
equipment, impairment of non-current assets, leases, employee benefit obligations, provisions, 
deferred income taxes and accounting for subsidiaries and associates.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures  
 
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous 
period. In addition, the Group presents an additional statement of financial position at the beginning 
of the earliest period presented when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, a 
retrospective restatement, or a reclassification of items in financial statements, that has a material 
effect on the information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding 
period.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, except for the adoption of 
new standards and amendments to the standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2020.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 
 
The nature and the impact of new standards/amendments affecting the accounting policies, 
disclosures, financial position or performance of the Group are described below. 
 
The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but 
is not yet effective. 
 
New and amended Standards and Interpretations 
 
Interpretations and amendments to standards and interpretations applied by the Group for the 
first time 
 
The amendments are disclosed below was entered in force for the reported periods since 1 January 
2020 and had impact on the accounting policy but did not have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group: 
 
Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business 
 
The amendment clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities and assets 
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that, together, significantly 
contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarifies that a business can exist without 
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, but may impact future periods should the 
Group enter into any business combinations. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and  
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
 
The amendments provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are 
directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform 
gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the 
hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments did not have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material 
 
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if 
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.”  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 
 
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, 
either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial 
statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions made by the primary users. These amendments had no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any future impact to the Group. 
 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 29 March 2018 
 
The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override 
the concepts or requirements in any standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist 
the IASB in developing standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies where 
there is no applicable standard in place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret the 
standards.  
 
The revised Conceptual Framework includes some new concepts, updated definitions and 
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts. These 
amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions 
 
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions – amendment to IFRS 16 
Leases. The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease 
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a COVID-19 related 
rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for 
any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession the same way it 
would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification. 
 
The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted. These amendments did not have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. 
 
Amendments issued but not effective 
 
The amendments to standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these amendments 
when they become effective. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
 
In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new 
accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation 
and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was 
issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct 
insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain 
guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A few scope 
exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for 
insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in 
IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 
provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. 
The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by: 

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee 
approach); 

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts. 
 
IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative 
figures required. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. 
The amendments clarify: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement; 

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; 

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. 

 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 
and must be applied retrospectively. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
  



Translation of the original Russian version 
 

Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

20 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 
 
Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
 
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for 
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly 
changing its requirements. 
 
The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of 
potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within 
the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, if 
incurred separately. 
 
At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that 
would not be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 
and apply prospectively. 
 
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 
 
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use, 
which prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any 
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises 
the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 
 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and 
must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on 
or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. 
 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
phase 2 
 
In August 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – phase 2, which addresses accounting issues arising due to 
replacement of IBOR with risk-free interest rates. These amendments provide some reliefs and 
additional disclosures. The reliefs apply when the risk-free rate is applied instead of the IBOR rate 
on a financial instrument.   
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 
 
As a practical expedient, a change in the basis for determining contractual cash flows resulting from 
a base rate reform should be accounted as floating interest rate change, given that, in the transition 
from IBOR to a risk-free rate, the new basis for determining contractual cash flows is economically 
equivalent to the previous basis. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 
and must be applied retrospectively without obligatory restatement of comparative figures. 
The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, in particular, the Group assessing potential changes in credit agreements, 
which contain floating interest rates. 
 
Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 
 
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to 
include when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making. 
 
The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract 
to provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly 
related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and 
are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. 
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 
The Group will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its 
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued 
amendment to IFRS 9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing 
whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms 
of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the 
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the 
other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or 
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendment. 
 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with 
earlier adoption permitted. The Group will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are 
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity 
first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Group. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, i.e. investees controlled by the Group, as at 31 December 2020. 
 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. 
 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  
 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of profit or loss 
from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as a parent 
company. All intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, accounting policies for 
subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group. 
Assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.  
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Principles of Consolidation (continued) 
 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the 
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in 
administrative expenses. 
 
Transactions under common control 
 
The transactions with entities under common control are measured at the actual consideration stated 
in any agreement related to the each transaction, provided that there is no requirement of IFRS to 
measure the transaction at fair value and except for transactions described below.  
 
When assets are acquired in the transactions under common control and payment is deferred beyond 
normal credit terms the resulting liability is recognized at its fair value at that date and the 
difference between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is recognized as credit to the 
equity. The assets are recognized at the nominal amount of consideration payable. 
 
On extinguishment of financial liability to the party under common control the difference between 
the fair value of liability settled and its carrying value is recognized in profit or loss.  
 
Any difference between the fair value of assets transferred for settlement and the fair value of 
liability settled is recognized directly in equity as additional contribution or distribution 
accordingly. 
 
When provisions of the lease agreement with parties under common control where the Group is a 
lessee are modified the Group uses the original interest rate implicit in the lease to discount the 
revised minimum lease payments in order to calculate the new lease liability and recognizes any 
change in the original lease liability as adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset. 
 
Functional currencies 
 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in rubles, which is also the Company’s 
functional currency and the functional currency of all subsidiaries. Items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using the functional currency of each entity. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives, and non-financial assets such as 
investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either:  

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.  
 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) market priced in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and  

• Level 3: valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable. 

 
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.  
 
The management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, 
such as investment properties, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale and 
distribution and assets of discontinued operations.  
 
External appraisers are involved for valuation of significant assets and significant liabilities. 
Involvement of external appraisers is decided upon annually by the Company’s management. 
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional 
standards are properly maintained. The management decides, after discussions with the appraisers, 
which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fair Value Measurement (continued) 
 
For the purposes of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are recognized at historical cost of acquisition or construction less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment (the Group’s approach to the accounting for impairment 
is described in Significant Judgment, Estimations and Assumptions section below). 
  
Construction-in-progress comprises costs directly related to construction and acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment plus an appropriate allocation of directly attributable variable and 
fixed overheads that are incurred in construction. Depreciation commences once the asset becomes 
available for use. 
 
Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property, plant and equipment, which qualify for 
recognition as assets in accordance with provisions of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, are 
capitalized. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized, and the assets replaced are 
derecognized. When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. Costs 
other than those referred to above are recognized as an expense when incurred. 
 
When assets are sold or retired, their carrying value is eliminated from the accounts and any gain or 
loss resulting from their disposal is included in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life. Depreciation 
is charged to operating expenses in the respective period. The land is not depreciated.  
 
The useful lives used to calculate depreciation are as follows (years): 
 

Buildings 10-60 
Constructions 10-100 
Superstructure 20-25 
Rolling stock, passenger 25-28 
Operating equipment 4-60 
Other fixed assets 4-60 

 
The Liquidation, residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Leases 
 
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. 
 
Group as a lessee 
 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases (i.e. lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 
12 months or less and do not contain a purchase or renewal options, as described in Significant 
accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions below) and leases of low-value assets (less than 
Rbls 300 thousand). Lease payments on such contracts are recognized as expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term within Rent of rolling stock and related expenses of consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. 
 
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis from the start date of the lease till the 
earlier of the following dates: the asset’s useful life or the end date of the lease. If ownership of the 
leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated 
useful life of right-of-use assets is determined on the same basis as for fixed assets. 
 
The useful lives used to calculate depreciation are as follows (years): 
 

Land 1-49 
Buildings 1-48 
Constructions 1-49 
Roadbed 38 
Superstructure 4-7 
Rolling stock, passenger 1-43 
Operating equipment 16 
Other fixed assets 2-3 

 
Group as a Lessor 
 
The Group owns buildings used for production and administrative purposes and leases out under 
operating leases some areas in such buildings. These areas represent a small part of total areas of the 
owner-occupied property, and could not be separated from the areas self-occupied by Group. The 
Group classifies such buildings as property, plant and equipment. For disclosing leased out assets 
balances the Group applies proportion of leased out area to total area of the building. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Investment Property 
 
Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including directly attributable expenditure, and 
subsequently remeasured at fair value which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting 
period.  
 
Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external 
independent appraiser, applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation 
Standards Committee. 
 
Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset (being an asset that necessarily takes a substantive period of time to get ready for its intended 
use or sale) are capitalized as part of the cost of respective asset. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities 
to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. 
Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are ready for their intended use. Borrowing costs 
include interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets (primarily software) are initially measured at cost. Intangible assets are recognized 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise. 
After initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
any accumulated impairment losses (the Group’s approach to the accounting for impairment is 
described in Significant Judgment, Estimations and Assumptions section below). Internally 
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and related 
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred  
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related 
assets. Useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets vary from 2 to 10 years. Amortization periods 
and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial 
year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. Amortization expense 
on intangible assets with finite lives is included into operating expenses of the respective period. 
The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The Group’s financial assets include: 
Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and loans issued classified as loans and 
receivables, derivative financial instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss and financial assets classified as available-for-sale investments. 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, which is the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and interest bearing loans and 
borrowings classified as loans and borrowings, derivative financial instruments classified as 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. Expected credit losses are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 
 
The Group disaggregates financial assets based on common credit risk characteristics such as 
instrument type, credit risk rating, debtor or issuer type, date of initial recognition, and establishes 
an allowance based on historical default percentage for such disaggregated groups adjusted for 
forward looking factors specific to the debtors (e.g. the probability of default in the industry) and 
the economic environment. 
 
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the standard’s simplified approach and 
calculates expected credit losses based on lifetime expected credit losses. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts 
 
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are these contracts that require a payment to be 
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specific debtor fails to make a payment 
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are 
initially recognized as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability 
under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount of the expected credit losses 
determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, 
the cumulative amount of amortization/income recognized in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, if applicable.  
  



Translation of the original Russian version 
 

Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

29 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories, which include materials, fuel and spare parts, are valued at the lower of cost as 
determined by the weighted average method and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash consists of cash on hand and balances with banks. Cash equivalents comprise highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
Net Assets Attributable to Non-controlling Participants in LLCs 
 
Non-controlling interest in the Group’s subsidiaries, established in the form of a limited liability 
company (“LLC”), do not satisfy the conditions of an equity instrument, since in accordance with 
the legislation of Russian Federation and charters, participants of those subsidiaries have a right to 
request the redemption of their interests in cash. Based on the provisions of the law determining the 
exit period, the net assets attributable to non-controlling participants in LLC had been presented 
within non-current liabilities. Share of non-controlling participants in profit or loss of those 
subsidiaries is presented in the statement of profit or loss as finance income or expense. 
 
Revenue and Expense Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its 
revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or 
agent.  
 
The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized. 
 
Transportation services 
 
In respect of services related to passenger transportation, revenue is recognized over time by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transportation at the reporting date. 
 
In July 2012 Group introduced Customers Loyalty Program RZD-Bonus which gives rise to 
allocation of a portion of the transaction price to the loyalty program liability based on relative 
standalone selling price. The loyalty points represent a separate performance obligation as they 
provide a material right to the customer and is recognized as a contract liability until the points are 
redeemed. Revenue is recognized upon redemption of products by the customer. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Revenue and Expense Recognition (continued) 
 
In respect of services related to baggage and cargo transportation, revenue is recognized by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transportation at the reporting date provided that the 
stage of completion of the transportation and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. In 
the event that either of the conditions above is not met as at the reporting date, the recognition of 
revenue is deferred to the date when transportation is completed, i.e. baggage or cargo delivered to 
the place of destination. The stage of completion is determined as a percentage of services 
performed to date to total services to be performed. 
 
Rental income 
 
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties and rent of passenger cars is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other revenue due to its 
operating nature.  
 
Finance and similar income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of such an instrument, taking into consideration all 
contractual terms of the instrument. 
 
Interest income earned and interest expense, incurred by the Group, are treated as finance income 
and expense, respectively. 
 
Government Subsidies 
 
Government subsidies related to income are recognized as income over the periods necessary to 
match them on the systematic basis with the related cost, which they are intended to compensate.  
 
Income relating to government subsidies is presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. 
The Group provides further disclosures in Note 27. 
 
Subsidies contributed towards the acquisition of an asset are deducted from the cost of those assets. 
Such subsidies are then recognized as income over the useful life of a depreciable asset by way of 
reduced depreciation charge.  
 
When loans or similar assistance are provided by the Government or related institutions at below-
market interest rate, the effect of this favourable interest rate is regarded as a government grant and 
measured as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the loan and the proceeds 
received. 
 
Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attached conditions will be complied with.   
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Employee Benefits 
 
Defined benefit plans 
 
The Group operates defined benefit pension plans. These benefits are partially funded. In addition, 
the Group provides certain other retirement and post-retirement benefits to its employees. These 
benefits are unfunded. The obligation and cost of benefits under the plans are determined separately 
for each plan using the projected unit credit method. 
 
Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding 
net interest), are recognized immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding 
debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
The Group recognizes the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under the line 
Wages, Salaries and Related Contributions in consolidated statement of profit or loss: 

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; 

• Net interest expense or income. 
 
Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss on the earlier of: 

• The date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and 

• The date that the Group recognizes restructuring-related costs. 
 
Defined contribution plans  
 
In addition to the defined benefit plans described above, the Group also sponsors a defined 
contribution plan for certain of its employees. The plan provides for contributions by the Group 
ranging from 0.9% to 4.8% of salary, and by employees ranging from 0.7% to 10.7% of salary. 
The Group’s contributions relating to the defined contribution plan are expensed in the year to 
which they relate. 
 
State plan 
 
In addition, the Group is legally obliged to make contributions to the Pension Fund of the Russian 
Federation (a multi-employer defined contribution plan). The Group’s only obligation is to pay the 
contributions as they fall due. As such, the Group has no legal obligation to pay and does not 
guarantee any future benefits to its Russian employees. The Group’s contributions to the State 
Pension Fund relating to defined contribution plans are expensed in the period to which they relate. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Contributions to the State Pension Fund together with other state social contributions are calculated 
as 30% (2019: 30%) on the annual gross salary of each employee before taxes. Excess of annual 
gross salary of employee over Rbls 912 thousand (2019: Rbls 865 thousand) is taxed at 27.1%, 
excess of annual gross salary of employee over Rbls 1,292 thousand (2019: Rbls 1,150 thousand) is 
taxed at 15.1% (2019: 15.1%). 
 
Other long-term benefits 
 
The Group introduced a number of long-term employee benefits, including loyalty bonus. The 
obligation and cost of benefits are determined separately for each benefit using the projected unit 
credit method. Service cost, net interest on the net defined benefit liability and re-measurement of 
the net defined benefit liability for other long-term benefits are recognized in the statement of profit 
or loss. 
 
Provisions 
 
A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligations. 
 
If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 
 
Contractual Commitments 
 
Contractual commitments comprise legally binding trading or purchase agreements with stated 
amount, price and date or dates in the future. 
 
The Group discloses significant contractual commitments for major types of purchases in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements. Commitments are disclosed including value added tax 
(VAT). 
 
Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions  
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and 
accompanying disclosures, and disclosure of contingent liabilities during the reporting period.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 
As a result of the uncertainties inherent in business activities, many items in financial statements 
cannot be measured with precision but can only be estimated. Estimation involves judgments based 
on the latest information available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are 
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.  
 
The most significant estimates relate to the depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment, 
impairment of non-financial and financial assets, determination of defined benefit obligations and 
the related current service costs with regard to pension plans and other long-term employee 
benefits, amounts of write-downs for obsolete inventory, provision for legal contingencies and 
deferred taxation. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
Judgments 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimates, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee 
 
For each lease contract based on specific conditions, the Group determines the lease term as the 
non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the 
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the 
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
 
If the lease contracts include extension or termination option, the Group applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or 
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it 
to exercise either the renewal or termination, including assessing the significance of the fine for 
withdrawing from the contract in a broad economic context. After the commencement date, the 
Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is 
within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to 
terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation of 
the leased asset). 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Judgments (continued) 
 
Determining the interest rate for measuring discontinued lease liabilities – Group as lessee 
 
If the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, the Group determines the 
incremental borrowing rate for measuring discontinued lease liabilities by the follow: 

• If the Group’s companies have borrowings, credit lines that are comparable in terms, 
provisions and other conditions to measured lease contract, the Group’s companies use these 
interest rates as discount rates for appropriate lease liabilities; 

• If the Group companies haven’t borrowings, credit lines that are comparable in terms, 
provisions and other conditions to measured lease contract, the Group’s companies use market 
interest rates as discount rates for appropriate lease liabilities taking into account average 
market rates adjusted on credit risk of Group’s companies and credit terms. 

 
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 
 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property. The Group has 
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the 
lease term not constituting a substantial portion of the economic life of the commercial property, 
and the present value of minimal lease payments at the inception of the lease is significantly lower 
than the fair value of the leased asset, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases. 
 
Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year discussed below. 
 
The Group based its assumptions and estimates on the latest information available when the 
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about 
future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond 
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
The most significant estimates relate to the depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment, 
impairment of non-financial and financial assets, determination of the net employee defined benefit 
liabilities and the related current service costs with regard to pension plans and other long-term 
employee benefits, fair value of financial instruments, revaluation of investment property, provision 
for tax and legal contingencies, deferred taxation. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Assumptions (continued)  
 
Useful life of property, plant and equipment  
 
The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least at 
each financial year-end. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted 
for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These estimates may have a material impact on the amount of 
the carrying values of property, plant and equipment and on depreciation recognized in profit or 
loss.  
 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of 
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if 
available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  
 
The Group represents one cash-generating unit (CGU or CGU FPC). The Group bases its 
impairment calculation on detailed budget and forecasts. These budgets and forecasts generally 
cover the period of three years and are further extrapolated for the mid-term period applying 
forecasted inflation rate, passenger turnover and tariffs growth rates. For longer periods, a long-term 
growth rate is determined and applied to projected future cash flows. 
 
The Group performed assessment of external and internal impairment indicators. Taking into 
account the continuing uncertainty of further economic growth and possible negative effect on the 
Group’s financial performance, as well, as substantial growth of capital expenditure on renovation 
of the passenger cars, the Group identified impairment indicators as of 31 December 2020 and 
performed impairment test on property, plant and equipment, and other non-current assets. 
 
For the purposes of impairment test performed as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the 
Group based its mid-term cash inflows projections on the forecasted inflation rate, passenger 
turnover and tariffs growth rates for the period up to and including the year 2030.  
 
The Group determined recoverable amount of CGU FPC as of 31 December 2020 based on fair 
value less cost to sell (31 December 2019: based on fair value less cost to sell).  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 
The following key assumptions were used for calculation of CGU FPC recoverable amount as of 
31 December 2020:  

• Discount rate is based on publicly available market data and derived from its weighted 
average cost of capital (WACC) which takes into account the specific risks attributable to the 
tested assets. Cost of equity takes into consideration beta factors evaluated based on publicly 
available market data; 

• Projected cash inflows from passenger transportation up to 2023 are based on forecasted 
change in passengers’ turnover of 67.0% in 2021 compared to 2020, and further at 6.6-17.7% 
level for 2022-2023. Growth rate in passenger turnover in further periods (2024-2030) is 
forecasted at 0.4-2.6% with growth of passenger turnover in deregulated segment being the 
primary driver. Projected change in tariffs for passenger transportation for further periods was 
based on management assumptions on consumer price index; 

• Projected cash inflows also include continuing government support of the industry in the form 
of subsidies;  

• Projected cash outflows take into account decrease in operating expenses during 2021-2030 as 
a result of several strategic initiatives implementation, as well as significant growth of 
investments in rolling stock during 2021-2025 and in further periods to meet aging rolling 
stock replacement requirements. 

 
As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group performed an annual impairment test 
for its property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and advances issued for acquisition of non-
current assets. The Group did not identify impairment loss for CGU FPC as of 31 December 2020 
and as of 31 December 2019. 
 

CGU FPC  
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Recoverable amount of CGU FPC based on fair value less cost to sell   305,801 264,710 
Discount rate used in the estimate of recoverable amount, before tax  12.05% 14.30% 
Impairment loss for the year ended 31 December  – – 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
As at each reporting date, the Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt 
instruments not held at FVTPL. The Group firstly assesses existence of impairment of financial 
assets on individual basis, if reasonable and supportable information is available without undue cost 
or effort. Otherwise, the Group assesses expected credit losses on a group basis (provision matrix), 
giving consideration to comprehensive credit risk level information. Assets, which are impaired 
individually, are excluded from assessment on a group basis. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the counterparty has low consolidated credit risk indicator (financial 
performance and standing, due diligence, payment discipline) at the reporting date, and has no 
history of overdue payments on financial instruments. 
 
The Group decreases carrying value of financial assets through the use of allowance accounts and 
recognizes impairment losses (or reversals) on contract assets and receivables, including lease 
receivables within operating expenses in Loss on impairment of financial assets, net line of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss while impairment losses (or reversals) on other financial 
assets are recognized within other expenses. 
 
A financial asset is partially of fully written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations to 
receive contractual cash flows for financial asset. The Group usually writes financial assets off 
when contractual payments are more than 3 years overdue and are not subject to enforcement 
recovery activity, when the debtor (issuer) is declared bankrupt and there is negligible probability to 
recover the contractual cash flows, as well as when there is negative court decision which the Group 
does not intend to challenge. 
 
Long-term employee benefits – defined benefit plans 
 
The present value of defined post-employment benefit obligations and related current service cost 
are determined in accordance with actuarial valuations, which rely on demographic and financial 
assumptions including mortality, both during and after employment, rates of employee turnover, 
discount rate, future salary and benefits levels and, to a limited extent, expected return on plan 
assets. In the event that further changes in the key assumptions are required, the future amounts of 
the pension benefit costs may be affected materially. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting 
date. More details are provided in Note 15. 
 
Litigations 
 
The Group exercises considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the 
exposure to contingent liabilities related to pending litigations or other outstanding claims subject to 
negotiated settlement, mediation, arbitration or government regulation, as well as other contingent 
liabilities. Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a 
liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement. Because of the inherent 
uncertainties in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated 
provision. These estimates are subject to change as new information becomes available, primarily 
with the support of internal specialists, if available, or with the support of outside consultants, such 
as legal counsel. Revisions to the estimates may significantly affect future operating results.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 
Current taxes 
 
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes 
occur frequently. Further, the interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the 
transactions and activity of the Group’s entities may not coincide with that of management. As a 
result, tax authorities may challenge transactions and the Group’s entities may be assessed 
additional taxes, penalties and interest, which can be significant. Periods remain open to review by 
the tax and customs authorities with respect to tax liabilities for three calendar years preceding the 
year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. As at 
31 December 2020, the management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is 
appropriate and that it is probable that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be 
sustained. More details are provided in Notes 13, 25. 
 
Deferred tax assets 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that their utilization is probable. The utilization of 
deferred tax assets will depend on whether it is possible to generate sufficient taxable income in 
respective tax jurisdiction. Various factors are used to assess the probability of the future utilization 
of deferred tax assets, including past operating results, operational plan, expiration of tax losses 
carried forward, and tax planning strategies. If actual results differ from the estimates or if these 
estimates must be adjusted in future periods, the financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows may be materially affected. Further details are provided in Note 13.  
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be derived from active 
markets, they are determined using appropriate valuation techniques including the discounted cash 
flows models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but 
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The 
judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes 
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.  
 
The analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured 
are provided in Note 2 and Note 33. 
 
Revaluation of investment property 
 
The Group carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognized 
in the profit or loss. The Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair value as at 
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. Investment property was valued with a reference to 
market-based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific market factors, such as 
nature, location and condition of the property.  
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3. Segment Reporting 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on their services, and 
has three reportable operating segments: 
• Domestic regulated long-haul passenger service segment comprises third- and fourth-class 

passenger transportation services within Russian Federation borders where prices are set by 
the Company based on tariffs determined by Federal Antimonopoly Service (FAS). Due to 
state regulation of these tariffs, the Company receives subsidies from federal budget.  

• Unregulated long-haul passenger service segment comprises deluxe-, first- and second-class 
long-haul passenger transportation services within Russian Federation borders where the 
Company sets its own pricing policy and international passenger service where the tariffs are 
generally set according to inter-governmental and interagency agreements, and vary 
depending on the countries involved.  

• All other segments include rent of passenger rolling stock and other property, rolling stock’s 
repair and maintenance for third parties, supplementary passenger services (tea, newspapers), 
surcharges for ticket sales, railway infrastructure services, servicing of rolling stock services 
and other services provided by the Group. 

 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated on a basis of segment operating profit or loss determined based on management accounts 
that differ from the IFRS consolidated financial statements for the reason that the management 
accounts are based on local GAAP figures. The operating segment results do not include effects of 
certain non-recurring transactions, such as business acquisitions, and the effects of some 
adjustments that may be considered necessary to reconcile the management accounts to 
IFRS consolidated financial statements. 
 
Prices between operating segments are generally set on a basis, where applicable, similar to 
transactions with third parties. 
 
Substantially all of the Group’s operating assets are located and significant part of the services 
(except for international transportation services) are provided in the Russian Federation.  
 
Segment revenue is revenue that is directly attributable to a segment, whether from sales to external 
customers or from transactions with other segments. Segment revenue does not include: 
• Subsidies from federal budgets; 
• Interest income; 
• Foreign exchange gains; 
• Gain on disposals and changes in fair value of financial assets; 
• Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (PP&E); 
• Gain on disposal of assets held for sale; 
• Penalties charged to customers; 
• Gain on disposal of controlling interest in subsidiaries; 
• Other income. 
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3. Segment Reporting (continued) 
 
Segment expense is expense resulting from the operating activities of a segment that is directly 
attributable to the segment and the relevant portion of an expense that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses relating to sales to external customers and 
expenses relating to transactions with other segments. Segment expense does not include: 

• Interest expense; 

• Foreign exchange losses; 

• Loss on disposals and changes in fair value of financial assets; 

• Loss on disposal of PP&E;  

• Loss on disposal of assets held for sale; 

• Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment, advances issued for acquisition of 
non-current assets and intangible assets;  

• Contributions to trade union, membership in professional associations; 

• Bank charges; 

• Income tax expense; 

• Loss on impairment of financial assets, net; 

• Social expenses; 

• Commercial expenses; 

• Change in provision for legal claims; 

• Other expenses.  
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3. Segment Reporting (continued) 
 
Segment result is measured as segment revenue less segment expense. 
 
The following tables present revenue and segment results information regarding the Group’s 
reportable operating segments: 
 
The year ended 31 December 2020 
 

 

Domestic 
regulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation 

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transporta-
tion 

All other 
segments 

Eliminations 
(A) 

Adjustments 
(B) Total 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Sales to third 

parties 60,915 54,712 16,876 – (1,248) 131,255 
Inter-segment 

sales – 139 1,557 (1,696) – – 
Total income  60,915 54,851 18,443 (1,696) (1,248) 131,255 
Total expenses (97,133) (72,070) (14,205) 1,696 5,784 (175,928) 
Segment 

result (36,218) (17,219) 4,228 – 4,536 (44,673) 
 
The year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

Domestic 
regulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation 

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transporta-
tion 

All other 
segments 

Eliminations 
(A) 

Adjustments 
(B) Total 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Sales to third 

parties 103,244 110,925 24,808 – (1,590) 237,387 
Inter-segment 

sales – 137 1,786 (1,923) – – 
Total income  103,244 111,062 26,594 (1,923) (1,590) 237,387 
Total expenses (118,345) (96,936) (18,065) 1,923 4,648 (226,775) 
Segment 

result (15,101) 14,126 8,529 – 3,058 10,612 
 
(A) Inter-segment revenues and margins are eliminated on consolidation. 
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3. Segment Reporting (continued) 
 
(B) The operating profit of each operating segment does not include the following adjustments 

representing differences between management accounts and these consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS for the year ended 31 December: 

 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
 
Total segment results (49,209) 7,554 
    
Amounts withheld from customers for tickets’ return  

(according to transportation rules) 331 347 
Accrual of deferred income from Customer Loyalty Program  

RZD Bonus  (133) (265) 
Net-off of rent income against bedding and servicing expenses 

provided by outsources (910) (1,353) 
Other revenue adjustments  (536) (319) 
 (1,248) (1,590) 
    
Subsidies from federal budgets  8,595 10,170 
Subsidies recognized under state operating activities resumption 

program (Note 24) 4,566 – 
PP&E adjustments (C) (213) 1,796 
Additional employee long-term benefit obligations (Note 15) (193) (438) 
Free of charge transportation, bonuses and other employee benefits (967) (1,372) 
(Loss from impairment)/gain from reversal of impairment of property, 

plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, advances issued for 
acquisition of non-current assets and intangible assets, net  
(Notes 4, 5, 7) (655) 726 

Finance expenses and similar items, net (Note 28) (3,676) (3,291) 
Claims to customers/(from customers), net (Notes 29, 30) 172 (13) 
Bank charges (1,303) (2,082) 
Contributions to trade union, membership fees to professional 

associations (Note 30) (308) (367) 
Foreign exchange (loss)/profit, net (49) 30 
Net-off of rent income against bedding and servicing expenses 

provided by outsources  910 1,353 
Other expenses adjustments (1,095) (1,864) 
 5,784 4,648 
Total adjustments to income before taxation 4,536 3,058 
(Loss)/Income before tax (44,673) 10,612 
 
(C) PP&E adjustments represent the effect of different carrying values and useful lives of 

property, plant and equipment and accounting treatment of property, plant and equipment 
components for the purposes of management accounts and consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS.  
The Group did not present disclosure of operating assets and liabilities, as well as breakdown 
of expenses included in reported segment result as they are not regularly provided to the chief 
operating decision maker in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate 
resources.  
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 comprised the 
following: 
 
31 December 2020 
 

Gross book value 

Balance as at  
1 January 

2020 Additions Transfers Disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2020 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Land 32 1 – – 33 
Buildings 17,793 922 687 (242) 19,160 
Constructions 4,906 313 125 (16) 5,328 
Superstructure 333 – – – 333 
Operating equipment 20,018 805 49 (421) 20,451 
Rolling stock, passenger 395,316 40,010 4,305 (20,469) 419,162 
Other fixed assets 1,953 178 – (173) 1,958 
Construction-in-progress 6,813 8,078 (5,166) (347) 9,378 
Total 447,164 50,307 – (21,668) 475,803 
 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

Balance as at  
1 January 

2020 

Depreciation 
charge for  
the period 

Accumulated 
depreciation 
on disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2020 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Land – – – – 
Buildings (3,558) (245) 3 (3,800) 
Constructions (2,163) (159) 6 (2,316) 
Superstructure (143) (9) – (152) 
Operating equipment (9,112) (1,037) 240 (9,909) 
Rolling stock, passenger (140,463) (13,034) 9,475 (144,022) 
Other fixed assets (765) (67) 96 (736) 
Construction-in-progress – – – – 
Impairment (58,674) – 890 (57,784) 
Total (214,878) (14,551) 10,710 (218,719) 
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
31 December 2019 
 

Gross book value 

Balance as at  
1 January 

2019 Additions Transfers Disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Land 31 1 – – 32 
Buildings 18,390 58 109 (764) 17,793 
Constructions 4,772 111 110 (87) 4,906 
Superstructure 332 1 – – 333 
Operating equipment 19,211 903 320 (416) 20,018 
Rolling stock, passenger 368,844 41,746 1,699 (16,973) 395,316 
Other fixed assets 1,949 84 – (80) 1,953 
Construction-in-progress 3,898 5,257 (2,238) (104) 6,813 
Total 417,427 48,161 – (18,424) 447,164 
 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

Balance as at  
1 January 

2019 

Depreciation 
charge for  
the period 

Accumulated 
depreciation 
on disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Land – – – – 
Buildings (3,738) (36) 216 (3,558) 
Constructions (2,074) (140) 51 (2,163) 
Superstructure (134) (9) – (143) 
Operating equipment (8,367) (1,024) 279 (9,112) 
Rolling stock, passenger (131,290) (13,511) 4,338 (140,463) 
Other fixed assets (707) (114) 56 (765) 
Construction-in-progress – – – – 
Impairment (58,739) – 65 (58,674) 
Total (205,049) (14,834) 5,005 (214,878) 
 

Net book value 

Balance as at  
31 December  

2020 

Balance as at  
31 December 

2019 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Land 33 32 31 
Buildings 15,360 14,235 14,652 
Constructions 3,012 2,743 2,698 
Superstructure 181 190 198 
Operating equipment 10,542 10,906 10,844 
Rolling stock, passenger 275,140 254,853 237,554 
Other fixed assets 1,222 1,188 1,242 
Construction-in-progress 9,378 6,813 3,898 
Impairment (57,784) (58,674) (58,739) 
Total 257,084 232,286 212,378 
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Borrowing interest costs included in the property, plant and equipment during the year ended 
31 December 2020 amounted to Rbls 6 million (2019: Rbls 12 million). No specific borrowing 
capitalization was made during the reporting period (2019: None). 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group recognized impairment loss related to carrying 
amount of certain property, plant and equipment and construction in progress items which were 
planned to be disposed by the management in amount of Rbls 655 million (2019: gain from 
impairment reversal Rbls 597 million). 
 
 
5. Advances Issued for Acquisition of Non-current Assets 
 
As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 advances for acquisition of non-current assets 
comprised advance payments for construction works net of impairment provision as follows: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Advances issued for acquisition of non-current assets  110 1,409 
Less: impairment allowance  – – 
Advances issued for acquisition of non-current assets, net  110 1,409 
 
Decrease in advances is due to delivery of products under previously issued advances by 
ОАО Tverskoy Vagonostroitelny Zavod and changes in contract payment terms (31 December 
2019: Rbls 1,239 million).  
 
 
6. Leasing – Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position and in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss 
 

 Buildings Other Total 
Lease 

commitments 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Carrying values as at 1 January 2020 1,708 – 1,708 1,836 
Additions 2 20 22 22 
Disposals (52) – (52) (52) 
Interest expenses  – – – 146 
Payment of lease liabilities for the period – – – (507) 
Depreciation charge for the period (433) (3) (436) – 
Carrying values as at 31 December 2020 1,225 17 1,242 1,445 
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6.  Leasing – Amounts, Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position and in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss (continued) 

 

 Buildings Total 
Lease 

commitments 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Carrying values as at 1 January 2019 1,997 1,997 1,997 
Additions 138 138 138 
Interest expenses  – – 174 
Payment of lease liabilities for the period – – (473) 
Depreciation charge for the period (427) (427) – 
Carrying values as at 31 December 2019 1,708 1,708 1,836 
 
Amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss are as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (436) (427) 
Interest expenses related to lease liabilities (146) (174) 
Rent expense – short-term leases (2,829) (3,082) 
Rent expense – leases of low-value assets (36) (109) 
Total amount recognized in profit or loss (3,447) (3,792) 
 
 
7. Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 comprised the following: 
 
31 December 2020 
 

Gross book value 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2020 Additions Transfers Disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December 

2020 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Software 3,501 94 19 (46) 3,568 
Other intangible assets 334 18 – (264) 88 
Software under development 42 61 (19) – 84 
Total 3,877 173 – (310) 3,740 
 

Accumulated amortization  
and impairment  

Balance as at  
1 January 

2020 

Amortization 
charge for  
the year 

Accumulated 
amortization 
on disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December 

2020 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Software (2,725) (203) 18 (2,910) 
Other intangible assets (156) (33) 119 (70) 
Total (2,881) (236) 137 (2,980) 
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7. Intangible Assets (continued) 
 
31 December 2019 
 

Gross book value 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2019 Additions Transfers Disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Software 3,429 64 126 (118) 3,501 
Other intangible assets 333 3 – (2) 334 
Software under development 59 109 (126) – 42 
Total 3,821 176 – (120) 3,877 
 

Accumulated amortization  
and impairment  

Balance as at  
1 January 

2019 

Amortization 
charge for  
the year 

Accumulated 
amortization 
on disposals 

Balance as at 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Software (2,486) (340) 101 (2,725) 
Other intangible assets (98) (60) 2 (156) 
Total (2,584) (400) 103 (2,881) 
 

Net book value 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2020 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Software 658 776 
Other intangible assets 18 178 
Software under development 84 42 
Total 760 996 
 
 
8. Inventories 
 
Inventories comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Spare parts 2,980 2,270 
Materials and supplies 1,367 1,318 
Fuel and lubricants 214 182 
Merchandise inventories 108 199 
Total 4,669 3,969 
    
Less: write-downs for obsolete and damaged inventory (154) (81) 
Total inventories, net 4,515 3,888 
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9. Prepayments and Other Current Assets 
 
Prepayments and other current assets comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
VAT balance due from budget and VAT on advances received 7,735 9,939 
Advances paid to suppliers 350 650 
VAT on advances paid for non-current assets  23 289 
Other current assets 439 474 
Total prepayments and other current assets 8,547 11,352 
 
 
10. Receivables 
 
Receivables comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Receivables for transportation services, net (A) 1,467 1,430 
Other accounts receivable, net (B) 2,562 1,524 
Total receivables 4,029 2,954 
 
(A) Receivables for transportation services comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Receivables for transportation services 3,641 3,602 
Less: expected credit losses allowance (2,174) (2,172) 
Total receivables for transportation services 1,467 1,430 
 
(B) Other accounts receivable comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Other accounts receivable 2,981 1,920 
Less: expected credit losses allowance  (419) (396) 
Total other accounts receivable 2,562 1,524 
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11.  Other Short-term Financial Assets  
 
Other short-term financial assets comprise short-term Rouble-denominated fixed interest loans with 
interest rates ranging from 3.30% to 6.35% (2019: from 6.0% to 7.6%) issued to Parent Company 
with loan maturity of less than 3 months. 
  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Amortized cost  800 20,550 
Interest accrued  – 11 
Carrying value  800 20,561 
 
 
12. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Bank deposits  – 1,558 
Cash and other cash equivalents in Russian rubles 3,887 1,733 
Cash in foreign currencies 41 – 
Total cash and cash equivalents  3,928 3,291 
 
 
13. Income Taxes 
 
The major components of income tax expense and benefits for the years ended 31 December 2020 
and 31 December 2019 comprised the following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Current income tax   
Income tax expense  33 2,113 
Income tax charges related to prior years assessments (50) 12 
Current income tax (benefit)/expense (17) 2,125 
    
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense    
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (9,831) 12 
Income tax (benefit)/expense reported in profit or loss  (9,848) 2,137 
    
Income tax benefit recognized in other comprehensive income  (4) (8) 
Income tax (benefit)/expense  (9,852) 2,129 
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13. Income Taxes (continued) 
 
A reconciliation of theoretical income tax expense to the actual income tax expense recorded in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as 
follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
(Loss)/ income before income tax (44,673) 10,612 
At statutory income tax rate of 20% according to Russian 

legislation (2019: 20%) (8,935) 2,122 
    
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes and other effects, net   
Non deductible employee benefits  211 408 
Non-deductible income tax charges related to prior years (50) 12 
Non-taxable income from loss compensations (1,311) (497) 
Non-deductible utilities services expense 49 57 
Other non-deductible material expense 128 (19) 
Other effect, net 60 54 
Total income tax (benefit)/expense reported in profit or loss in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss (9,848) 2,137 
    
Effective income tax rate 22% 20% 
 
Deferred tax relates to the following: 
 

 
1 January 

2020 

Recognition 
and reversal 
of temporary 
differences in 
profit or loss 

Recognition 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

31 December 
2020 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Tax effects of taxable temporary 

differences     
Valuation of property, plant and equipment (2,629) (631) – (3,260) 
Valuation of inventories (85) 24 – (61) 
Investment property  (48) 36 (1) (13) 
      
Tax effects of deductible temporary 

differences     
Tax losses carry forward – 10,010 – 10,010 
Valuation of receivables 460 708 – 1,168 
Payables and accruals 1,222 (213) – 1,009 
Employee benefit obligations 670 (22) 5 653 
Right-of-use assets, net 26 14 – 40 
Valuation of intangible assets 15 (9) – 6 
Other 93 (86) – 7 
Total net deferred tax asset/(liability), 

net  (276) 9,831 4 9,559 
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13. Income Taxes (continued) 
 

 
1 January 

2019 

Recognition 
and reversal 
of temporary 
differences in 
profit or loss 

Recognition 
and 

restoration 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

31 December 
2019 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Tax effects of taxable temporary 

differences     
Valuation of property, plant and equipment (2,213) (416) – (2,629) 
Valuation of inventories (63) (22) – (85) 
Investment property  (54) 29 (23) (48) 
     
Tax effects of deductible temporary 

differences     
Payables and accruals 1,065 157 – 1,222 
Employee benefit obligations 607 32 31 670 
Valuation of receivables 380 80 – 460 
Right-of-use assets, net – 26 – 26 
Valuation of intangible assets (34) 49 – 15 
Other 40 53 – 93 
Total deferred tax liability, net  (272) (12) 8 (276) 
 
As of 31 December 2020 the Group recognized deferred tax assets in the amount of 
12,893 million rubles (31 December 2019: 2,485 million rubles) and deferred tax liabilities in the 
amount of 3,334 million rubles (31 December 2019: 2,761 million rubles).  
 
The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. 
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14. Borrowings  
 
The outstanding balances of long-term borrowings comprised the following: 
 

31 December 2020  
Original 
currency 

Principal 
amount in 

original 
currency 

Interest rate  
per annum 

Maturity of 
non-current 

portion Current Non-current 
    Rbls mln   Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Fixed rates        
PJSC VTB Bank (D) RUR 4,935 1.50%  4,935 – 
Other  RUR 66   66 – 
        
Variable rates        
JSC GazPromBank (Α) RUR 714 

 
 

Central Bank of 
Russia key rate 

+1.25%  714 – 
AO ALFA-BANK (C) RUR 9,569 Central Bank of 

Russia key rate 
+1.38%-1.48%  9,569 – 

         
Debt securities issued        
Bonds (B) RUR 39,018 6.90%-8.90% 2022-2025 518 38,500 
Bonds (B) RUR 10,087 7 years’ 

zero-coupon 
yield curve of 

Moscow 
Exchange  2028 87 10,000 

Total      15,889 48,500 
 

31 December 2019  
Original 
currency 

Principal 
amount in 

original 
currency 

Interest rate  
per annum 

Maturity of 
non-current 

portion Current Non-current 
    Rbls mln   Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Fixed rates        
Other  RUR 22   22 – 
        
Variable rates        
JSC GazPromBank (Α) RUR 1,428 Central Bank of 

Russia key rate 
+1.25% 2021 714 714 

         
Debt securities issued        
Bonds (B) RUR 39,001 6.90%-8.90% 2022-2025 501 38,500 
Bonds (B) RUR 10,090 7 years’ 

zero-coupon 
yield curve of 

Moscow 
Exchange   90 10,000 

Total      1,327 49,214 
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14. Borrowings (continued) 
 

(A) In October 2011 the Group has signed a secured long-term credit facility agreement, 
denominated in Russian ruble, with JSC GazPromBank for the total amount of 
Rbls 7,500 million to finance acquisition of passenger rolling stock from Patentes Talgo S.L. 
Principal is to be repaid by equal quarterly installments starting November 2014. As of 
31 December 2020 the Group has drawn Rbls 6,324 million (31 December 2019: 
Rbls 6,324 million). There were no pledged assets as of 31 December 2020 under the 
agreement.  

(B) In April 2017 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-01 for the total amount of 
Rbls 5,000 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
5.5 years. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 8.8%. Coupons 
are paid semi-annually in arrears. 
In December 2017 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-02 for the total amount of 
Rbls 5,000 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
5 years. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 7.75%. Coupons 
are paid semi-annually in arrears. 
In March 2018 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-03 for the total amount of 
Rbls 10,000 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
5 years at nominal value. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 
7.2%. Coupons are paid semi-annually in arrears. 
In October 2018 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-04 for the total amount of 
Rbls 5,000 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
5 years. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 8.9%. Coupons 
are paid semi-annually in arrears. 
In November 2018 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-05 for the total amount of 
Rbls 10,000 million and maturity of 10 years each. Bonds were issued on domestic market. 
Coupon rate is fixed as 8.4% p.a. for the first and second coupon periods. Coupon rate starting 
from the 3-rd and subsequent coupon periods is set using floating interest rate with reference 
to point at zero-coupon yield curve of Moscow Exchange corresponding to maturity yield for 
7 years re-set semi-annually at the end of the 5th business day before the next coupon period 
start. 
In June 2019 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-06 for the total amount of 
Rbls 8,000 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
4 years. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 8.4%. Coupons 
are paid semi-annually in arrears. 
In Νοvember 2019 Group issued non-convertible bonds series 001P-07 for the total amount of 
Rbls 5,500 million and maturity of 10 years each with embedded put option exercisable in 
6 years. Bonds were issued on domestic market. The first coupon was set at 6.9%. Coupons 
are paid semi-annually in arrears. 

(C) In January 2019 Group has signed revolving credit line agreement with in Russian ruble with 
AO “ALFA-BANK” for the total amount of Rbls 10,000 million to finance operating, 
investment and financial operation. As of 31 December 2020 the Group has received 
Rbls 9,566 million under the agreement.  
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14. Borrowings (continued) 
 
(D) In June 2020 Group has signed short-term credit line agreement in Russian ruble with 

PJSC VTB Bank for the total amount of Rbls 5,000 million to finance operating, investment 
and financial operation. As of 31 December 2020 the Group has received Rbls 5,000 million 
under the agreement.  

 
As of 31 December 2020 the unutilized amount under credit line agreements was Rbls 70,434 billion. 
 
 
15. Employee Benefits  
 
The Group provides to its employees defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. 
The plans require contributions to be made to a separately administered non-state pension fund 
“Blagosostoyanie” and not-for-profit fund “Pochet”. Pension entitlements under defined benefit 
plans are accrued using the projected unit credit method. 
 
In order to be entitled to pension through the non-state pension fund “Blagosostoyanie” (defined 
benefit pension plan) a person should meet a number of criteria, including the following: 
(1) An employee should make contribution to the pension plan at his/her own expense; 
(2) An employee (irrespective of the date of birth) should have at least 5 years of services with 

the Parent and its subsidiaries, during which an employee made contribution to the pension 
plan at his/her own expense; 

(3) An employee born before 1967 and joined the pension plan before 1 July 2007 – 15 years of 
services with the Parent and its subsidiaries; 

(4) An employee should retire from the Group. 
 
All other employees making contributions to the pension plan at his/her own expense are 
participants of the defined contribution plan. 
 
Not-for-profit fund “Pochet” provides pensions to employees of the Group retired before the 
defined benefit plans provided through the non-state pension fund “Blagosostoyanie” referred to 
above were introduced. 
 
Benefits accrued through pension plan administered by non-state pension fund “Blagosostoyanie” 
are partially funded, whilst benefits administered by not-for-profit fund “Pochet” are unfunded. 
 
In addition, the Group provides other retirement, post employment and other long-term benefits to 
its employees, which comprise free of charge transportation on long-haul trains provided on the 
annual basis and lump-sum payment upon retirement ranging from 1 to 6 monthly salaries and 
depending on the duration of the service period, free of charge sanatorium therapy to retired 
employees, payments after certain service periods and some other. These benefits are unfunded. 
 
Similarly to defined obligation pension plan, entitlements to such additional benefits are accrued 
using the projected unit credit method.  
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15. Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Defined Contribution Plans 
 
Total amount recognized as an expense in respect of payments to defined contribution plans for the 
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Pension Fund of the Russian Federation 6,392 7,809 
Defined contribution plan “Blagosostoyanie” 324 369 
Total expense for defined contribution plans 6,716 8,178 
 
Defined Benefit Plans 
 
Almost all employees are entitled to some part of the post employment and other long-term 
employee benefit program of the Group and as at 31 December 2020 410 employees were 
considered as participants of the defined benefit pension plan (31 December 2019: 510 employees). 
In addition, there are approximately 19 thousand retired employees eligible for the post retirement 
benefit program of the Group provided through not-for-profit fund “Pochet” as at 31 December 
2020 (31 December 2019: 21 thousand). 
 
The amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 
 
As at 31 December 2020 
 

 
Blago- 

sostoyanie Pochet 

Other  
long-term 
benefits 

Other post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Present value of defined benefit 

obligations 353 1,029 3,694 7,576 12,652 
Fair value of plan assets (216) – – – (216) 
Net pension liability 137 1,029 3,694 7,576 12,436 
 
As at 31 December 2019 
 

 
Blago- 

sostoyanie Pochet 

Other  
long-term 
benefits 

Other post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Present value of defined benefit 

obligations 453 1,040 3,697 7,348 12,538 
Fair value of plan assets (247) – – – (247) 
Net pension liability 206 1,040 3,697 7,348 12,291 
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15. Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Defined Benefit Plans (continued) 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
 

 
Blago- 

sostoyanie Pochet 

Other  
long-term 
benefits 

Other post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Defined benefit obligations at 

1 January 2019 536 957 3,291 5,942 10,726 
Service costs: 11 – 1,321 228 1,560 
Current service cost 11 – 1,321 228 1,560 
Past service cost  – – – – – 
Costs arising on transfer of 

employees (i) 2 – 62 64 128 
Interest on the defined benefit 

obligation 26 71 168 474 739 
Re-measurement of the defined 

benefit obligation: ‒ ‒ 209 ‒ 209 
Actuarial (gains) from change in 

financial assumptions – – 110 – 110 
Actuarial (gains)/losses from change 

in demographic assumptions – – (12) – (12) 
Other – – 111 – 111 
Sub-total included in the 

consolidated profit or loss 39 71 1,760 766 2,636 
       
Re-measurement of the defined 

benefit obligation: 111 149 – 1,139 1,399 
Actuarial (gains) from change in 

financial assumptions 37 113 – 1,259 1,409 
Actuarial (gains)/losses from change 

in demographic assumptions 2 56 – 33 91 
Other 72 (20) – (153) (101) 
Sub-total included in the 

consolidated other comprehensive 
income 111 149 – 1,139 1,399 

Settlement of liability (233) (137) (1,354) (499) (2,223) 
Defined benefit obligations at 

31 December 2019 453 1,040 3,697 7,348 12,538 
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15. Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Defined Benefit Plans (continued) 
 

 
Blago- 

sostoyanie Pochet 

Other  
long-term 
benefits 

Other post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Defined benefit obligations at 

31 December 2019 453 1,040 3,697 7,348 12,538 
Service costs: 8 – 1,455 305 1,768 
Current service cost 8 – 1,455 305 1,768 
Past service cost  – – – – – 
Costs arising on transfer of  

employees (i) – – 35 40 75 
Interest on the defined benefit 

obligation 20 58 140 444 662 
Re-measurement of the defined 

benefit obligation: – – (126) – (126) 
Actuarial (gains) from change in 

financial assumptions – – 8 – 8 
Actuarial (gains)/losses from change 

in demographic assumptions – – (2) – (2) 
Other – – (132) – (132) 
Sub-total included in the 

consolidated profit or loss 28 58 1,504 789 2,379 
       
Re-measurement of the defined 

benefit obligation: 18 72 – (143) (53) 
Actuarial (gains) from change in 

financial assumptions 1 6 – 82 89 
Actuarial (gains)/losses from change 

in demographic assumptions (11) 30 – (61) (42) 
Other 28 36 – (164) (100) 
Sub-total included in the 

consolidated other comprehensive 
income 18 72 – (143) (53) 

Settlement of liability (146) (141) (1,507) (418) (2,212) 
Defined benefit obligations at 

31 December 2020 353 1,029 3,694 7,576 12,652 
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15. Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Defined Benefit Plans (continued) 
 
Movements in the net assets of defined benefit pension plan during 2020 and 2019 were as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year  247 313 
Interest on the assets 13 23 
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on 

the net defined benefit liability (5) (41) 
Contributions from the employer 2,173 2,175 
Settlement of liability (2,212) (2,223) 
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December  216 247 
 
(i) The costs and assets arising from transfer of employees represent the transfer of assets and 

obligations, which originated from the movement of employees from, as well as back to, the 
Parent. Net losses are the difference between the costs arising from transfer of employees and 
the assets arising from transfer of employees. 

 
The major categories of plan assets administered by non-state pension fund “Blagosostoyanie” as a 
percentage of the fair value of total plan assets were as follows: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
1 January 

2019 
Corporate bonds and stocks of legal entities 64% 63% 66% 
Shares in closed investment funds 22% 25% 27% 
Cash equivalents and bank deposits – 1% 1% 
Other 14% 11% 6% 
Total 100% 100% 100% 
 
Most benefits to employees and retired employees depend on wage growth and consumer price 
index. Defined benefit obligation of post-employment benefits in addition depend on changes in life 
expectancy of retired employees.  
 
Plan assets under the defined benefit pension plan are subject to risks of financial market. Since 
retirement of a participant non-state pension fund Blagosostoyanie carries out all the risks of the 
plan with respect to this participant, thereby risks for the Group are reduced. 
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15. Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Defined Benefit Plans (continued) 
 
Actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
1 January  

2019 
Discount rate 6.3% 6.4% 8.7% 
Average rate of employee turnover  8.0% 9.0% 8.2% 
Projected average growth of wages 4.0% 4.0% 4.1% 
Projected average growth of benefits 4.0% 4.0% 4.1% 
Life expectancy table Russia, 2019, 

with probability 
corrected to 80% 

of the initial 
level 

Russia, 2018, 
with probability 

corrected to 80% 
of the initial 

level 

Russia, 2017, 
with probability 

corrected to 87% 
of the initial 

level 
 
In addition, the Group assumed that since 2021 salary will increase in line with inflation rate in 
Russia. The Group estimates future inflation rates based on the Ministry of Economic Development 
of the Russian Federation and the Economist Intelligence Unit assessments.  
 
The decrease in discount rate resulted from a decrease noted in the reporting period in the market 
yields of government bonds.  
 
Results of sensitivity analysis of defined benefit obligation: 
 
  Change in obligations at 

 
Change in 

assumption 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
  Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Discount rate -0.5% 496 473 
 +0.5% (455) (434) 

Rate of employee turnover per year, relative change -10% 174 169 
 +10% (166) (161) 

Annual average growth of benefits and salary -0.5% (491) (470) 
 +0.5% 530 507 

Mortality rate -10% 163 150 
 +10% (151) (136) 
 
The sensitivity analysis is based on realistic possible changes as of the end of the reporting year. 
Each change in a significant actuarial assumption was analyzed separately as part of the test. 
Interdependencies were not taken into account.  
 
Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 8.4 years (at 31 December 2019: 
8.0 years). The expected contributions to the defined benefit plans for the next annual period are 
Rbls 1,999 million.  
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16. Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Accounts payable, trade  37,195 12,471 
Accounts payable, other 1,677 2,927 
Total trade and other payables 38,872 15,398 
 
Accounts payable, other as of 31 December 2020 included payables related to settlements for 
tickets with other carriers of Rbls 406 million (31 December 2019: Rbls 590 million). 
 
 
17. Taxes and Similar Charges Payable (Other than Income Tax Payable) 
 
Taxes and similar charges payable (other than income tax payable) comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Settlement with social funds 1,522 2,020 
Property tax 407 136 
Personal income tax 247 329 
VAT 44 91 
Other 70 108 
Total taxes and similar charges payable (other than income tax) 2,290 2,684 
 
 
18. Transportation Contract Liabilities  
 

 2020  2019 
 Rbls mln  Rbls mln  
As of 1 January  9,234 8,588 
As of 31 December  4,223 9,234 
 
Revenue, recognized in the reporting period that was included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the period amounted to Rbls 9,234 million (2019: Rbls 8,588 million). 
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19. Other Non-current and Current Contract Liabilities  
 
Other non-current and current liabilities as of 31 December 2020 and as of 31 December 2019 
comprised the following: 
 

  
31 December  

2020 
31 December 

2019 
  Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Other non-current liabilities     
Other contract liabilities – “RZD Bonus” loyalty program  333 354 
Total other non-current liabilities   333 354 
     
Other current liabilities     
Other contract liabilities – “RZD Bonus” loyalty program  893 739 
Other contract liabilities for scrap iron sale and advances for 

trip management services  239 154 
Total other current liabilities   1,132 893 
 
In July 2012 Group introduced Customers Loyalty Program RZD-Bonus. According to Program 
customers, participants of Program, accumulate points for purchasing tickets for railway 
transportation provided by the Group, Parent and partners. Accumulated points can be used by 
passengers to compensate cost of tickets at future purchases. As of 31 December 2020 contract 
liabilities accrued in relation to Program amounted to Rbls 1,226 million (31 December 2019: 
Rbls 1,093 million).  
 
  Other current contract liabilities 

  

RZD Bonus 
Short-term 

portion  

RZD  
Bonus  

Long-term 
portion 

Total 
31 December 

2020 
  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
As of 1 January 2020   739 354 1,093 
Accrued   893 3 896 
Recognised   (739) (24) (763) 
As of 31 December 2020  893 333 1,226 
 
 
20. Other Current Liabilities 
 
Other current liabilities comprised the following: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Settlements with employees 4,269 5,348 
Other current liabilities 83 – 
Total other current liabilities 4,352 5,348 
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21. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities 
 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities in 2020 and 2019 comprised the following:  
 
   Non-monetary changes  

 
1 January 

2020 Cash flows 
Interest  
accrued  

Other 
changes 

31 December 
2020 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Long-term borrowings 49,214 (714) – – 48,500 
Short-term borrowings 736 14,608 – (64) 15,280 
Interest accrued  591 (3,991) 4,012 (3) 609 
Lease liabilities, short-term portion 384 (507) 146 406 429 
Lease liabilities, net of current 

portion 1,452 – – (436) 1,016 
Total 52,377 9,396 4,158 (97) 65,834 
 
   Non-monetary changes  

 
1 January 

2019 Cash flows 
Interest  
accrued  

Other 
changes 

31 December 
2019 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Long-term borrowings 45,537 4,411 – (734) 49,214 
Short-term borrowings – – – 736 736 
Interest accrued  531 (3,937) 3,997 – 591 
Lease liabilities, short-term portion 419 (473) 174 264 384 
Lease liabilities, net of current 

portion 1,578 – – (126) 1,452 
Total 48,065 1 4,171 140 52,377 
 
 
22. Equity 
 
Share Capital  
 
The share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2020 consists of 206,961,040,539 
(31 December 2019: 186,961,040,539) authorized, issued, outstanding and fully paid common 
shares with par value of Rbls 1. 
 
In October 2020 Company placed additional issue of ordinary shares with par value of 1rouble each 
for the total amount of 20,000 million roubles. All shares were fully paid in cash in October 2020. 
 
 2020 2019 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, mln 190,513 172,985 
Net (loss)/income for the period, Rbls mln (34,825) 8,475 
Basic (loss)/income per share, Rbls per share (0.18) 0.05 
Diluted (loss)/income per share, Rbls per share (0.18) 0.05 
 
Company does not possess any instruments (including contingently issuable shares) that could 
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.   
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22. Equity (continued) 
 
Share Capital (continued) 
 
The Company shareholder structure was as follows: 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
1 January  

2019 
OJSC “RZD” 100% less 1 share 100% less 1 share 100% less 1 share 
JSC “RZD Upravlenie aktivami” 1 share  1 share  1 share  
Total 100% 100% 100% 
 
 
23. Revenues 
 
Revenues from contracts with customers and operating lease income for the year ended 
31 December 2020 comprised the following: 
 

Revenue description 

Domestic 
regulated long-
haul passenger 
transportation 

segment  

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation  
segment 

All other 
segments  Total 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Domestic long-haul passenger transportation  54,532 48,698 7,909 111,139 
International long-haul passenger transportation  – 2,182 – 2,182 
Domestic baggage and cargo transportation  6,310 – – 6,310 
International baggage and cargo transportation  45 – – 45 
Tickets reissue and booking charges – 1,425 – 1,425 
Provision of passenger rolling stock  – – 2,195 2,195 
Railway infrastructure services  – – 1,816 1,816 
Repair of rolling stock  – – 1,703 1,703 
Printed matter and tea  – – 1,368 1,368 
Surcharges for tickets sales and other – – 1,075 1,075 
Servicing of rolling stock and personal services  – – 344 344 
IT services  – – 160 160 
Locomotive traction services  – – 160 160 
Other services  – – 543 543 

Total revenues from contracts with customers 60,887 52,305 17,273 130,465 
      
Satisfied     
At point in time – – 4,689 4,689 
Over time  60,887 52,305 12,584 125,776 
Total revenues from contracts with customers  60,887 52,305 17,273 130,465 

Lease income – – 790 790 

Total income  60,887 52,305 18,063 131,255 
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23. Revenues (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of revenues from contracts with customers revenues disclosed in Note 3 “Segment 
Reporting”: 
 

 

Domestic 
regulated long-
haul passenger 
transportation 

segment  

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation 
segment 

All other 
segments  Total  

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Sales to third parties 60,915 54,712 16,876 132,503 
Inter-segment sales  – 139 1,557 1,696 
Total revenue 60,915 54,851 18,433 134,199 
     
Adjustments and eliminations  (28) (2,546) (370) (2,944) 

Total income  60,887 52,305 18,063 131,255 
 
Revenues from contracts with customers and operating lease income for the year ended 
31 December 2019 comprised the following: 
 

Revenue description 

Domestic 
regulated long-
haul passenger 
transportation 

segment  

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation  
segment 

All other 
segments  Total 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Domestic long-haul passenger transportation  97,002 91,714 13,519 202,235 
International long-haul passenger transportation  – 13,958 – 13,958 
Domestic baggage and cargo transportation  6,141 – – 6,141 
International baggage and cargo transportation  58 – – 58 
Tickets reissue and booking charges – 2,705 – 2,705 
Provision of passenger rolling stock  – – 2,076 2,076 
Railway infrastructure services  – – 1,998 1,998 
Printed matter and tea  – – 1,828 1,828 
Repair of rolling stock  – – 1,800 1,800 
Surcharges for tickets sales and other – – 1,557 1,557 
IT services  – – 576 576 
Locomotive traction services  – – 507 507 
Servicing of rolling stock and personal services  – – 418 418 
Other services  – – 733 733 

Total revenues from contracts with customers 103,201 108,377 25,012 236,590 
      
Satisfied     
At point in time – – 5,918 5,918 
Over time  103,201 108,377 19,094 230,672 
Total revenues from contracts with customers  103,201 108,377 25,012 236,590 

Lease income – – 797 797 

Total income  103,201 108,377 25,809 237,387 
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23. Revenues (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of revenues from contracts with customers revenues disclosed in Note 3 “Segment 
Reporting”: 
 

 

Domestic 
regulated long-
haul passenger 
transportation 

segment  

Unregulated 
long-haul 
passenger 

transportation 
segment 

All other 
segments  Total  

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Sales to third parties 103,244 110,925 24,808 238,977 
Inter-segment sales  – 137 1,786 1,923 
Total revenue 103,244 111,062 26,594 240,900 

Adjustments and eliminations  (43) (2,685) (785) (3,513) 

Total income  103,201 108,377 25,809 237,387 
 
 
24. Railway Infrastructure Expenses 
 
Infrastructure expenses incurred due to railways common infrastructure usage by the Company to 
transfer passengers and baggage in the long-haul passenger trains. Infrastructure services are mainly 
comprised of provision of access to railway lines and stations, dispatcher’s supervisory control over 
passenger traffic and automated tickets selling systems. In 2020 Company received operating 
activities resumption subsidy in amount of 4,566 million roubles. The subsidy’s amount was 
recognized as decrease of railway infrastructure costs. 
 
 
25. Taxes Other than Income Tax 
 
Taxes other than income tax for the years 2020 and 2019: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Property tax 530 567 
Other taxes 118 299 
Total taxes other than income tax 648 866 
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26. Other Operating Expenses 
 
Other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 comprised 
the following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Accounting services 1,248 1,256 
Security and fire safety costs 593 608 
Transportation services 473 508 
IT expenses 447 432 
Cost of foreign railways’ services 441 1,875 
Telecommunication fees 230 234 
Health monitoring expenses 214 286 
Selling tickets expenses 202 358 
Business trips and personnel education 199 464 
Consulting services 184 184 
Commercial expenses 116 149 
Insurance expense 111 141 
Social expenses 62 170 
Other expenses 786 579 
Total other operating expenses 5,306 7,244 
 
 
27. Subsidies from Federal Budget 
 
Subsidies from federal budget for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 
comprised compensations of the effects of tariffs’ regulation for third- and fourth-class long-haul 
passenger transportation services, and other compensation payments for the transportation of certain 
categories of passengers. 
 
 
28. Finance Expense and Similar Items, Net  
 
Finance expense and similar items, net for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2019 comprised the following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Interest income 303 986 
Interest expense (4,012) (3,985) 
Lease interest expense (146) (174) 
Other  179 (118) 
Total finance expense and similar items, net (3,676) (3,291) 
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29. Other Income 
 
Other income for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 comprised the 
following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Penalties charged to customers 201 227 
Gain on inventories disposal, net 1 221 
Gains on derecognition of liabilities with expired limitation of  

action period 34 60 
Change in provision for legal claims 17 35 
Other 697 525 
Total other income 950 1,068 
 
 
30. Other Expenses 
 
Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 comprised the 
following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (3,983) (963) 
Contributions to trade union (308) (367) 
Penalties charged by customers (29) (240) 
Other (310) (371) 
Total other expenses (4,630) (1,941) 
 
 
31. Related Party Transactions 
 
As defined by IAS 24 Related Parties Disclosures the entity is related to a reporting entity if any of 
the following conditions applies:  
(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each 

parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 
(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 
(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity. 
(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such 
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
(f) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person, that: 

(i) Has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 
(ii) Has significant influence over the reporting entity; or  
(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 

the reporting entity. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties would not, and transactions 
between related parties may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as 
transactions between unrelated parties. 
 
The most significant balances with related parties as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 
are as follows (for description of the nature of the relationships between the Group and its related 
parties refer to definitions in a.-f. above): 
 
 As of 31 December 2020 As of 31 December 2019 
Related party, Nature of relations,  
Type of service/product 

Amounts 
receivable 

(Amounts 
payable) 

Amounts 
receivable 

(Amounts 
payable) 

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Operating activities     
Transactions with parent company (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Transportation 106 (1) 147 – 
Other 253 (152) 346 – 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Railway infrastructure  52 (10,453) 99 (121) 
Locomotives expenses – 7,785 7 (702) 
Fixed assets, materials and other services 259 (891) 359 (216) 
      Transactions with parent’s subsidiary 

companies (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Other 56 (8) 18 (6) 
      Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Repair and other services 67 (307) 123 (231) 
      Transactions with associates and joint 

ventures (b)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Other 54 (1) 5 – 
      Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Transportation services – (8) – (11) 
Repair services – (4) – – 
Pension contributions – (34) – (78) 
Other – (4) 6 (6) 
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
 As of 31 December 2020 As of 31 December 2019 
Related party, Nature of relations,  
Type of service/product 

Amounts 
receivable 

(Amounts 
payable) 

Amounts 
receivable 

(Amounts 
payable) 

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Ministries of the Russian Federation (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Transportation and other 1,059 (11) 697 (17) 
Rent and other 785 (2) 124 (2) 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Security and fire prevention services – (14) – (15) 
Sanitation-and-epidemiological services – (52) – (49) 
Banking services – (11) – (22) 
Other services 15 (4) 7 (10) 
      
Transactions with State-controlled 

entities (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Transportation 6,621 (265) 56 (319) 
Repair and other services 42 (1) 61 (13) 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Electricity, fuel, oil 9 (23) 13 (9) 
Banking services – (93) – (119) 
Other services 7 (2,598) 2 (17) 
      
Allowance for impairment of financial 

assets     
Transactions with parent company and with 

parent’s subsidiary companies (a) (4) – (6) – 
Transactions with associates and joint 

ventures (b) (3) – (3) – 
Ministries of the Russian Federation (a) (3) – (1) – 
Transactions with state-controlled 

entities (a) (24) – (4) – 
Transactions with pension funds (e) – – (3) – 
      
Financing activities     
Transactions with parent’s subsidiaries(a)     
Loans receivable  800 – 20,561 – 
Loans payable  – (20) – (22) 
      
State-controlled entities (a)     
Loans payable – (5,650) – (1,427) 
      
Operations with pension funds     
Pension funds (e)     
Payable to the pension fund 69 – 113 – 
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 

 
For the year 

ended 31 December 2020 
For the year 

ended 31 December 2019 
Related party, Nature of relations,  
Type of service/product 

Sales/ 
income* 

(Purchases)/ 
(expenses)* 

Sales/ 
income* 

(Purchases)/ 
(expenses)* 

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Operating activities     
Transactions with parent company (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Transportation services 5,543 – 8,725 – 
Other 1,653 – 11,314 – 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Railway infrastructure  – (53,845) – (71,708) 
Locomotives expense – (35,123) – (46,726) 
Fixed assets, materials and other services – (5,701) – (6,295) 
      
Transactions with parent’s subsidiary 

companies (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Other 201 – 204 – 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Repair and other services – (921) – (945) 
      
Transactions with associates and joint 

ventures (b)     
Attributed to sales and income      
Other 11 – 67 – 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Transportation services – (61) – (73) 
Repair services – (18) – (2,821) 
Rolling stock – – – (11,149) 
Pension contribution – (441) – (601) 
Other – (77) – (191) 
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 

 
For the year 

ended 31 December 2020 
For the year 

ended 31 December 2019 
Related party, Nature of relations,  
Type of service/product 

Sales/ 
income* 

(Purchases)/ 
(expenses)* 

Sales/  
income* 

(Purchases)/ 
(expenses)* 

  Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Ministries of the Russian Federation (a)     
Attributed to sales and income      
Subsidies (Note 27) 8,595 – 10,170 – 
Transportation services 5,653 – 7,879 – 
Rent and other 1,957 – 1,634 – 
      
Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Security and fire prevention services – (69) – (72) 
Sanitation-and-epidemiological services – (196) – (194) 
Banking services – (147) – (289) 
Infrastructure services – 4,566 – – 
Other services – (54) – (140) 
      Transactions with state-controlled 

entities (a)     
Attributed to sales and income     
Transportation 8,143 – 4,987 – 
Repair and other services 302 – 515 – 
      Attributed to purchases and expenses     
Electricity, fuel, oil – (133) – (279) 
Banking services – (1,126) – (1,731) 
Insurance – (112) – (631) 
Other – (166) – (148) 
      
Allowance for impairment of financial 

assets     
Transactions with parent company and with 

parent’s subsidiary companies (a) – (1) – (6) 
Transactions with associates and joint 

ventures (b) – (2) 3 – 
Ministries of the Russian Federation (a) – (1) – (1) 
Transactions with state-controlled entities (a) – (24) – (2) 
Transactions with pension funds (e) 2 – – (2) 
      
Financing activities     
Transactions with parent’s subsidiary 

companies (a)     
Interest income on loans receivable 234 – 830 – 
Interest expense on loans payable – (3) – – 
      
Transactions with state-controlled 

entities (a)     
Interest expense on loans payable  – (283) – (299) 
Interest income from changes in present value  12 – – – 
      
Operations with pension funds     
Pension funds (e)     
Pension contributions and other 456 (274) 984 (294) 
* Amounts do not include VAT.  



Translation of the original Russian version 
 

Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

72 

31. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 the Group’s companies maintained 
several accounts in state-controlled and associate banks of the Parent. The amount of cash and short 
term deposits held in these banks as at 31 December 2020 equated to Rbls 3,539 million 
(31 December 2019: Rbls 2,816 million), which comprised the following: 
 
 2020 2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Cash and cash equivalents in state-controlled banks 3,539 2,816 
Total 3,539 2,816 
 
Interest income from related parties comprised Rbls 303 million for the year ended 31 December 
2020 (2019: Rbls 986 million). 
 
Loans obtained by the Group from related parties attract interest varying from 1.5% to 7.5% during 
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: from 7.5% to 10.0%). 
 
Further, for the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group was entitled to receive tariff compensation 
of Rbls 1,530 million (2019: Rbls 3,661 million) for transportation of certain categories of 
passengers from the Federal Railroad Agency (Agency).  
 
Accounts receivable balance outstanding for the tariff compensation on transportation of certain 
categories of passengers as at 31 December 2020 is Rbls 2,481 million (31 December 2019: 
Rbls 2,674 million). The impairment of this accounts receivable balance outstanding as at 
31 December 2020 is Rbls 2,366 million (31 December 2019: Rbls 2,366 million).  
 
Key management personnel comprise General Director and deputies of General Director. Total 
remuneration accrued and paid to the key management personnel as of the date of financial 
statements approval amounted to Rbls 160 million for year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 
Rbls 242 million).  
 
 
32. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Tariff Regulation Policy 
 
Potential reforms in tariff-setting policy may have a significant effect on the Company. 
The Company is continuously discussing the tariff setting policy, including both- unification of 
such tariffs between domestic and foreign transportation and increases in the tariffs, with the 
Government of the Russian Federation.  
 
It is currently uncertain whether any changes will be introduced in the tariff setting policy. These 
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from these 
uncertain effects. Such adjustments, if any, will be reported in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements in the period when they become known and estimable.  
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32. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Taxation 
 
Russia currently has a number of taxes imposed by both federal and regional governmental 
authorities. Applicable taxes include value added tax, corporate income tax (profit tax), property 
tax, personal income tax and payroll (social) taxes, together with others.  
 
Statutory stipulated tax benefit concept is in place in respect of all taxes levied on the territory of 
Russian Federation with specific focus on the presence of business purposes of operational 
transactions as well as on confirmation of contractual obligations execution by parties to the 
contract or by the party to which obligations were transferred under the contract or law provisions. 
This development changes significantly the concept of unreasonable tax benefit receipt recognition, 
which will affect significantly previously established law practice. At the same time practical 
mechanism of application of the concept is not yet realized and law practice is not established. 
 
Recent trends in application and interpretation of some of the provisions of Russian tax regulation 
suggest that the tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation and 
application of the legislation and assessments. It is therefore possible that transactions and activities 
that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged at any time in the future. As such, 
significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed by the relevant authorities. 
Assessment of the amount of claims on possible but not brought yet legal actions and assessment of 
the probability of negative outcomes is not possible. Fiscal periods remain open and subject to 
review by the authorities in respect of taxes for a period of three calendar years immediately 
preceding the year in which the decision to conduct a tax review is taken. Under certain 
circumstances tax reviews may cover longer periods. 
 
Management believes that it has correctly interpreted tax regulations and adequately provided for 
tax liabilities in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2020 (Notes 13 and 17) in 
respect of above mentioned risks. However, the general risk remains that relevant authorities could 
take different positions with regard to interpretative issues and the effect on the Group’s financial 
position could be significant. 
 
Insurance  
 
The Russian insurance industry is in developing stage: insurance market capacity and low variety of 
product lines does not completely meet customers’ requirements. Compulsory insurance common in 
other parts of the world is being introduced in stages and may not be available for some types of 
insurance. 
 
Management has approved insurance policy for the Group. This policy sets general principles for 
the Group in respect of major terms of insurance contracts.  
 
During 2020, the Group continued to maintain insurance coverage regarding major categories of its 
property. 
  



Translation of the original Russian version 
 

Joint Stock Company “Federal Passenger Company” 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

74 

32. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Claims and Potential Claims against the Group 
 
The Group is subject to a number of court proceedings arising out of the normal course of its 
business. These proceedings primarily relate to application of transportation tariffs. As at 
31 December 2020 the Group has not recognized provision in respect of such proceedings 
(31 December 2019: none) (Notes 29 and 30). 
 
Purchase Commitments for Capital Expenditures and Repairs 
 
Purchase commitments for capital expenditures and repairs are disclosed including VAT, where 
applicable. 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Purchase of new rolling stock (A) 209,121 246,108 
Construction of buildings – 348 
Purchase of intangible assets 68 136 
Modernization and capital repairs of rolling stock 42,927 64,578 
Total purchase commitments for capital expenditures and 

repairs 252,116 311,170 
 
As at 31 December 2020 purchase commitments for capital expenditures and repairs resulted 
from the contracts signed with related parties amounted to Rbls 1,218 million (31 December 2019: 
Rbls 928 million). 
 
(A) Purchase commitments for the purchase of new rolling stock mainly relate to long-term 

agreement with ОАО Tverskoy Vagonostroitelny Zavod. 
 
As of 31 December 2020 total outstanding purchase commitments denominated in EUR for capital 
expenditures and repairs under the service contract with Patentes Talgo S.L. were Rbls 363 million 
(2019: Rbls 473 million) out of total purchase commitments as of 31 December 2020 in the amount 
of Rbls 252,116 million (December 2019: Rbls 311,170 million). 
 
 
33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies  
 
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, finance leases obligations, cash 
and bank deposits. The main purpose of these instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s 
operations. The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade 
payables, which arise directly from its operations. 
 
The Group is exposed to credit and liquidity risks and market risk. 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Financial risks are monitored by Financial Risks Management Committee and Finance Department 
of the Company. Credit, currency and interest rate risks are regulated by corporate financial risks 
management code and policies. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the Group to 
incur a financial loss.   
 
Cash is placed in financial institutions, which are considered at a time of deposit to have minimal 
risk of default. Management monitors the creditworthiness of the banks in which it deposits cash 
and ensures that the deposits placed by the Group in each financial institution do not exceed 
approved upper limit. These limits are recalculated quarterly in accordance with corporate policies, 
which include qualitative and quantitative analysis of financial institutions’ performance. These 
limits are monitored and approved by the Company’s Financial Risks Management Committee.  
 
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit risk, consist principally of trade 
receivables and loans issued. The carrying amount of these financial assets, net of expected 
impairment loss allowance, represents the maximum amount exposed to credit risk. Although 
collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there 
is no significant risk of loss to the Group beyond the impairment already recorded.  
 
The largest part of the Company’s sales of transportation services are made on prepayment basis. 
Accordingly, the Group’s trade receivables are originated by a limited number of customers, 
primarily parent company OJSC “RZD” and Federal Railways Agency (Agency) which administers 
partial compensation to the Company for railway transportation tariff for certain categories of 
passengers. Impairment allowance recognized by the Group primarily consists of receivables from 
Federal Railways Agency (Agency). The Group has no practical ability to amend the legislation 
governing provisions of subsidies to certain categories of passengers, or to terminate the supply to 
these counterparties. The Group continuously negotiates with federal authorities the terms of these 
receivables’ collection. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of financial assets which is 
disclosed below: 
 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Loans issued  800 20,561 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) 3,882 3,218 
Receivables  4,029 2,954 
Long-term receivable  6,256 60 
Total credit risk exposure  14,967 26,793 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Credit Risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of other current financial assets, comprising loans issued and Group’s receivables analysis 
by level of credit risk rating and default probability as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 
comprised the following: 
 
As of 31 December 2020 
 
 Gross value  

Allowance 
for 

expected 
credit  
losses  

Gross 
value less 
allowance 

for 
expected 

credit 
losses  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 

Total   
Less than 

2% 
From 2% 

to 10% From 10% 

Specific 
financial 

instrument 
impair-

ment  
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Loans issued (Note 11) 800 – – – 800 – 800 
Short-term receivables for 

transportation services (Note 10) 1,370 99 10 2,162 3,641 (2,174) 1,467 
Other accounts receivable (Note 10) 2,209 211 225 336 2,981 (419) 2,562 
Long-term receivables for 

transportation services  6,274 – – – 6,274 (18) 6,256 

Total  10,653 310 235 2,498 13,696 (2,611) 11,085 
 
As of 31 December 2019 
 
 Gross value  

Allowance 
for 

expected 
credit  
losses  

Gross 
value less 
allowance 

for 
expected 

credit 
losses  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 

Total   
Less than 

2% 
From 2% 

to 10% From 10%  

Specific 
financial 

instrument 
impair-

ment  
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 

Loans issued (Note 11) 20,561 – – – 20,561 – 20,561 
Receivables for transportation 

services (Note 10) 1,333 103 – 2,166 3,602 (2,172) 1,430 
Other accounts receivable (Note 10) 689 886 – 344 1,919 (396) 1,523 

Total  22,583 989 – 2,510 26,082 (2,568) 23,514 
 
Receivables balances are allocated to risk across credit risk rating levels in accordance with 
Company’s credit risk management policy based on debtors’ default probabilities. 
 
Company applies credit default probabilities published by rating agencies. For those debtors which 
have no specific published default probability, Company takes into account actual prior years 
information on debtor’s contract liabilities contract terms, company’s financial position and 
debtor’s industry. 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Credit Risk (continued) 
 
Company’s Receivables are distributed between levels 1, 2, 3 and 4. Company allocates Russian 
Federation Ministries and Agencies as well as state controlled companies to Level 1 with Russian 
Federation level of credit risk. Oil, gas, consumable fuels and power producing companies are also 
included in Level 1 risk level. Besides, Level 1 was assigned to companies with low cumulative risk 
indicator level.  
 
Level 2 and 3 includes other debtors, which do not qualify for inclusion into level 1 based on 
established default probability. Those debtors, where specific financial instrument analysis was 
performed are disclosed under Level 4 category. 
 
Default probability is determined by subsidiaries based on aging of past due payments under the 
contracts as well as specific contract and financial position of debtors analysis. 
 
Level 4 comprises debtors, for which, due to amounts receivable materiality specific analysis was 
performed to determine compensation receipt probability under the contract. As a result, Company 
determined compensation receipt probability as low while Company maintains legal rights to these 
payments.  
 
In the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the movement in allowance for the 
expected credit loss was as follows: 
 

 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2020 
Charge for  

the year Reversed Utilized 

Balance as at  
31 December 

2020 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Allowance for expected credit 

losses on current financial assets       
Receivables for transportation 

services (2,172) (13) 9 2 (2,174) 
Other accounts receivable (396) (93) 45 25 (419) 
Other accounts receivable, long-term (5) (18) 5 – (18) 

Total (2,573) (124) 59 27 (2,611) 
 

 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2019 
Charge for  

the year Reversed Utilized 

Balance as at  
31 December 

2019 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Allowance for expected credit 

losses on current financial assets       
Receivables for transportation 

services (1,566) (856) 210 40 (2,172) 
Other accounts receivable (449) (118) 94 77 (396) 
Other accounts receivable, long-term – (5) – – (5) 

Total (2,015) (979) 304 117 (2,573) 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Group’s reputation. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and borrowing facilities, 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities.The management monitors net debt to EBITDA (EBITDA is 
calculated as operating profit after subsidies before the effects of depreciation, amortization and loss 
on impairment of PP&E and intangible assets for the reporting period), and EBITDA to net interest 
costs as key financial ratios in accordance with the Group’s debt management policy. 
 
The Group prepares a financial plan on a monthly basis which ensures that the Group has sufficient 
cash on demand to finance expected operational expenses, financial obligations and investing 
activities. The Group developed standard payment periods in respect of trade accounts payable and 
monitors the timeliness of payments to its suppliers and contractors. 
 
The following tables summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted payments, incluing interest payments. Repayments, which are subject to 
notice, are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. Accordingly, the related liabilities 
were reported as payable within less than 1 year. 
 

As at 31 December 2020 
Less than  

1 year 1 to 3 year Over 3 years Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Fixed-rate debts     
Loans and borrowings 8,133 27,911 16,975 53,019 
 8,133 27,911 16,975 53,019 
Lease liabilities      
Lease payments  545 1,083 61 1,689 
 545 1,083 61 1,689 
Floating rate debts      
Loans and borrowings  11,312 1,292 13,231 25,835 
 11,312 1,292 13,231 25,835 
Non-interest bearing debts     
Trade payables 37,195 – – 37,195 
Other payables 1,677 – – 1,677 
Other current liabilities 4,269 – 71 4,340 
 43,141 – 71 43,212 
Total 63,131 30,286 30,338 123,755 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 

As at 31 December 2019 
Less than  

1 year 1 to 3 year Over 3 years Total 
 Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln Rbls mln 
Fixed-rate debts     
Loans and borrowings 3,057 16,071 31,850 50,978 
 3,057 16,071 31,850 50,978 
Lease liabilities      
Lease payments  514 1,084 652 2,250 
 514 1,084 652 2,250 
Floating rate debts      
Loans and borrowings  1,568 2,141 14,188 17,897 
 1,568 2,141 14,188 17,897 
Non-interest bearing debts     
Trade payables 12,471 – – 12,471 
Other payables 2,848 – – 2,848 
Other current liabilities 5,348 – 209 5,557 
 20,667 – 209 20,876 
Total 25,806 19,296 46,899 92,001 
 
Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices, will affect the Group’s cash flows or the fair value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. Market risk comprises equity, currency and interest rate risks. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The currency risk is the risk of losses due to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates with regard 
to the Group’s assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 
 
As of 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019 the Group’s exposure to currency risk was 
represented by payables denominated in EUR under the contracts agreements with Patentes 
Talgo S.L. and payables under contracts with various international railways as well as cash balances 
on currency bank accounts. As of 31 December 2020 the total outstanding payables denominated in 
EUR amounted to Rbls 130 million (31 December 2019: Rbls 137 million) and EUR-denominated 
monetary assets amounted to Rbls 43 million (31 December 2019: Rbls 17 million). As of 
31 December 2020 USD-denominated payables amounted to Rbls 4 million (31 December 2019: 
Rbls 18 million) while USD-denominated monetary assets amounted to Rbls 2 million (31 December 
2019: Rbls 1 million).  
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Market Risk (continued) 
 
Sensitivity analysis  
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before taxation (“PBT”) to 
reasonably possible changes in respective currencies with regard to its net monetary position1 as at 
31 December 2020 and 2019 with all other variables held constant: 
 
 2020 2019 

 

Change in 
exchange 

rate 
Effect  

on PBT 

Change in 
exchange 

rate 
Effect  

on PBT 
 (%) Rbls mln (%) Rbls mln 
     
Rbls/EUR  +16.0 (15) +11.0 (13) 

-16.0 15 -11.0 13 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The interest rate risk is the risk of financial losses due to adverse changes in the interest rates of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities. 
 
In August 2011 the Group had adopted a formal policy with regard to acceptable exposure to fixed 
and variable interest rates. The Group periodically reviews current interest rates and uses the results 
of this analysis to decide whether attraction of fixed-rate or variable-rate borrowings is more 
beneficial for the Group. 
 
The following table demonstrated the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of 
the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact of variable-rate borrowings) for the year ended 
31 December 2020: 
 

2020 
Increase/ 

decrease in rate 
Effect on profit  

before tax 
 % Rbls mln 
RUR +1.5 (288) 
RUR -1 192 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying amounts of financial instruments that are liquid or have a short term maturity 
(less than three months), such as cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits, short-term 
accounts receivable and payable are assumed to approximate their fair value.  
  

 
1 Net monetary position comprises financial assets net of financial liabilities.  
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
As no readily available market exists for a part of the Group’s financial instruments, judgment is 
necessary in arriving at fair value, based on current economic conditions and specific risks 
attributable to the instrument.  
 
With regard to fixed rate financial instruments, their fair value was estimated by comparing market 
interest rates when they were first recognized with current market rates offered for similar financial 
instruments. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash 
flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and maturity. 
 
For quoted debt issued the fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices.  
 
For those notes issued where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model 
is used based on a current interest rate yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity. 
The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize 
in a market exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument.  
 
The following table summarizes differences between the carrying amounts and fair values and 
provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. 
 

 
Carrying  

value 
Fair 
value 

Level of fair 
value hierarchy 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln  
31 December 2020    
Financial Assets    
Long-term financial assets 6,256 6,293 Level 2 

Financial liabilities    
Long-term fixed rate loans 5,001 4,997 Level 2 
Long-term fixed rate debt securities:    
Bonds 39,018 41,026 Level 1 
 

 
Carrying  

value 
Fair 
value 

Level of fair 
value hierarchy 

 Rbls mln Rbls mln  
31 December 2019    
Financial liabilities    
Long-term fixed rate loans 22 21 Level 2 
Long-term fixed rate debt securities:    
Bonds 39,001 40,442 Level 1 
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33. Financial Instruments and Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Management believes that the carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities not detailed in 
the above table approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. 
 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 

• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 

• Level 3: valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable. 

 
Capital Management 
 
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of FPC.  
 
The Group manages its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions and may adjust 
it by issuing new shares and dividend payments to the shareholders.  
 
 
34. Events After the Reporting Period 
 
Government Subsidies 
 
In February 2021 Company signed an agreement with Federal Agency of Railway Transportation 
for subsidies’ provision for the year 2021 in the amount of Rbls 6,792 million, for the year 2022 in 
the amount of Rbls 6,755 million and for the year 2023 in the amount of Rbls 6,754 million as a 
compensation for the effects of tariffs’ regulation with respect to certain classes of long-haul 
passenger transportation for the total amount of agreement of Rbls 20,301 million. 
 
Loans and borrowings 
 
In January 2021 Company received Rbls 6,000 million under previously signed loan agreement 
with PJSC VTB Bank. 
 
Share capital 
 
In March 2021 Company registered additional ordinary shares issue for the  total amount of 
Rbls 15,000 million. 
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